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THE COUNCIL

Report Of The Infrastructure Division

Marcel Van Ooyen, Deputy Chief of Staff

COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

Joseph P.  Addabbo, Jr., Chair

January 22, 2003

On January 22, 2003, the Committee on Parks and Recreation will hold a hearing to consider Int.  No.  342-A, renaming thoroughfares and public places and Int.  No.  343-A, renaming thoroughfares and public places to honor victims of the World Trade Center disaster on September 11, 2001.

Proposed

Int.  No.  342-A
BY: Council Members Addabbo, Jr., Baez, Barron, Fidler, Gerson, Lopez, Martinez, McMahon, Moskowitz, Nelson, Provenzano, Quinn, Reed, Reyna, Sanders, Seabrook, Sears, Yassky, Lanza and Oddo

Title:
In relation to naming thirty-nine throughfares and public places, Jack Fitzgerald Parkway, Borough of Queens, Rabbi Joseph Weiss Avenue, Borough of Queens, Angel Luis Rosario Place, Borough of the Bronx, Father David Casella Triangle, Borough of the Bronx, Mary Warren Place, Borough of Brooklyn, John Malone Park House, Borough of Brooklyn, Avenue M –  Mary Queen of Heaven Way, Borough of Brooklyn, Edmond J.  Safra Place, Borough of Manhattan, Rabbi Yaakov Spiegel Way, Borough of Manhattan, Stephen “Snapper” Knapp Place, Borough of Staten Island, Firefighter Michael J.  Gorumba Place, Borough of Staten Island, Kevin Sheehy Way, Borough of Staten Island, Luis M.  Beltre Place, Borough of Manhattan, Rev.  Dr.  William A.  Epps, Jr.  Place, Borough of Staten Island, Cheryl White Place, Borough of Staten Island, Caccese Way, Borough of Staten Island, James Russo Place, Borough of Staten Island, Mt.  Carmel Way, Borough of Staten Island, Isaac Stern Place, Borough of Manhattan, Warren L.  Samuels Way, Borough of Brooklyn, Marion Castellano Way, Borough of Brooklyn, Dr.  Carlo Mannino Place, Borough of the Bronx, Throgs Neck Expressway, Borough of the Bronx, Marge Jeffries Way, Borough of the Bronx, Charles Lee Triangle, Borough of the Bronx, J.A.  Lobbia Bike Lane, Borough of Manhattan, Saint Malachy's Way, Borough of Manhattan, Angelo Del Toro Place, Borough of Manhattan, Eric Lopez Place, Borough of Brooklyn, Reverend Dr. Nathaniel Tyler-Lloyd Place, Borough of the Bronx, Plaza College Way, Borough of Queens, Khay Cochran Place, Borough of Brooklyn, Leonard and Harriet Walit Way, Borough of the Bronx, PFC Dan Bullock Way, Borough of Brooklyn, Paul Ramos Way, Borough of Manhattan, Joey Ramone Place, Borough of Manhattan, El Regreso Way, Borough of Brooklyn, Michelle Middleton-Bond Square, Borough of Queens, and Place de Cartier, Borough of Manhattan.
Comment:

Section   1 – Jack Fitzgerald Parkway, Borough of Queens 

information provided by Council Member Addabbo


Jack Fitzgerald was born on March 10, 1922 on Beach 106th Street in Rockaway, Queens to John Fitzgerald and Anne Foley of Limerick, Ireland.  His hard working parents had come from Ireland looking for a better life, and settled in Rockaway to raise their family.


Jack attended St. Francis DeSales in Belle Harbor, and Bishop Loughlin High School in Brooklyn.  He then attended Manhattan College in the Bronx and moved on to the Academy of Aeronautics, across from LaGuardia Airport.  His education helped him in service as a Sergeant in the United States Army from 1942 to 1945.  He was an aircraft mechanic and trainer during the Second World War, and  proud of being chosen to guard President Harry Truman during a visit to New York.


After the War, he married Ellen Hancock in November of 1947, and soon after purchased Fitzgerald’s Hotel on Beach 108th Street and Shore Front Parkway in Rockaway.  He served as a member of the Chamber of Commerce and a President of the Rockaway Rotary Club.  He loved serving his community, and taught this dedication to his four children.  


The stories about Jack Fitzgerald are part of the history of the Rockaways.  Jack had a great sense of humor, and always saw the best in people.  For instance, when a group of neighborhood teens broke into his business, he decided to give them a job rather than a police record.  He was the perfect example of the “it takes a village” philosophy.  He loved people and telling stories of his world travels; especially the story of meeting a person in Tokyo, Japan wearing one of his “Fitzgerald’s Tavern” tee shirts.   Jack sold Fitzgerald’s Hotel in 1982 and retired.  Jack moved from Rockaway in 1995 to be cared for by his children until his death on May 13, 2001 from Parkinson’s disease.

Section 2 – Rabbi Joseph Weiss Avenue, Borough of Queens 

information provided by Council Member Addabbo


Rabbi Joseph Weiss was born on April 13, 1913 and for over 52 years led the Congregation of West End Temple.  During his years of service, Rabbi Weiss was inspired and devoted to the congregants and the community.  In addition to his leadership in the Temple, Rabbi Weiss was an active member and community resident of the Rockaways.


Rabbi Weiss was co-founder of the Rockaway Catholic-Jewish Committee, a member of the Rotary Club, the Boy Scouts, the Jewish War Veterans, the Belle Harbor Property Owners Association, the 100 Police Precinct Council and a member of the Advisory Council of Peninsula Hospital.

Section No.  3 – Angel Luis Rosario Place, Borough of the Bronx 

information provided by Council Member Baez

Angel Luis Rosario Martinez was born October 2, 1944 in Cayey, Puerto Rico.  He was the third son of eight children, and was survived by his six children, eight grandchildren, and twenty-eight nephews and nieces.  He obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Mathematics from the University of Puerto Rico, and began teaching at Cidra High School.

Angel Luis Rosario served his community for fifteen years as an employee of Hunts Point Multi Service.  He served as a board member on Bronx Community Planning Board No.  5 and went on to develop the idea of creating the Bronx Puerto Rican Day parade.  He saw the parade as a way of promoting the culture of the Puerto Rican Community in the Bronx and celebrating the contributions made by Puerto Ricans in the City of New York.  This parade is now the second largest celebration of Puerto Rican heritage in the United States.  Angel Luis Rosario passed away on August 18, 2000 and is buried in Santa Isabel, Puerto Rico.  It is in this spirit of commitment that Community Board No.  5 supported naming “Angel Luis Rosario Place.”

Section 4 – Father David Casella Triangle, Borough of the Bronx 

information provided by Council Member Baez


David P. Casella was born on October 5, 1950 in the Yorkville section of Manhattan.  David Casella attended St.  Joseph’s school in Manhattan, and began his studies for the priesthood at Cathedral Preparatory Seminary (then located in Manhattan).  He graduated from the former Cathedral College in Douglaston and St. Joseph’s Seminary in Dunwoodie.  He was ordained a priest for the New York Archdiocese on December 6, 1975.


Following his ordination, he was assigned to St. Joseph’s parish on Bathgate Avenue in the Bronx, where he served as parochial vicar until 1985.  In September of 1985 he was named administrator of St. Thomas Aquinas parish, where he served until 1992.  Since 1987, he also served as chairman of Aquinas Housing Corporation, a community based organization that sponsors housing development, property management and social services.


Father David Casella was appointed pastor of Our Lady of Angels Parish on Webb Avenue in the Bronx in July of 1992.  Fr. Casella brought to this parish a wonderful love of God and a tremendous desire to help all in need, Catholic or not.  He was a wonderful example of how to live the gospel and spread the Good News to all, regardless of religion, race or origin.


Fr. Casella was instrumental in helping to develop and get funding for many youth programs, based from the parish school and throughout the neighborhood.  He helped to identify summer job opportunities for over 200 young people in 1996 and 1997.  He also sponsored a very active Scouting program serving over 150 young men and 75 young women and their families.


Fr. Casella also served on the boards of St. Barnabas hospital and the Fordham-Tremont Community Mental Health Center.  He was able to use his position with these organizations to help many people.  His position at St. Barnabas, for example, allowed him to help a 6-month-old child fly from the Dominican Republic for delicate heart surgery. 


Father David Casella passed away on February 7, 1999 from a heart attack at 49 years old.  His short life positively impacted many other lives.  He achieved the goal of any simple parish priest by bringing many people to God; he was truly blessed and he blessed the communities and parishes he touched.

Section 5 – Mary Warren Place, Borough of Brooklyn 

information provided by Council Member Barron

Ms. Warren began her long career in community service with the New York City Housing Authority.  In her thirteen years there, she worked as a Community Associate, Community Liaison, and Community Service Aide.  During this time, Ms. Warren aided the East New York community by serving as spokesperson for the community police precinct councils and organized tenant patrols, youth patrols and a tenant association.  

Ms. Warren left her position at the New York City Housing Authority to become Special Assistant to Congressman Edolphus Towns.  While doing so, she continued to act as liaison to representatives from different groups and agencies concerning issues of crime, drugs and housing in her community.

Ms. Warren's service extended beyond the realm of government service.  She continued to be involved with both the youth and elderly in her community.  As the Community Relations Associate for the Wartburg Lutheran Home for the Aging, Ms. Warren developed and implemented marketing strategies to increase participation for Meals-on-Wheels, Adult Day Health Care, Senior Housing and at the nursing home itself.  This required an ability to work closely with people from the community of all different backgrounds, an area in which Mary excelled.  Her outgoing personality allowed her to be the Recreation Specialist for the New York City Parks and Recreation Department at the Brownsville Recreation Center.  There, she served as Program Coordinator and Registration Supervisor for the various school and summer programs.  

Mary Warren was an active volunteer in the Brooklyn Community.  She served as the District Leader for the 40th Assembly District for three terms.  Also, as a testimonial to her passion for providing affordable housing in her community, and her devotion to its future, she served as the President of the Long Island Baptist Tenant Association at Unity Plaza Housing for over 20 years.

Mary Warren passed away on November 4, 2001, after 40 years of dedicated service in the Brownsville, East New York and Bedford-Stuyvesant communities of Brooklyn.  Congressman Edolphus Towns read a tribute to Ms. Warren into the Congressional Record on November 10, 2001.

Section 6 – John Malone Park House, Borough of Brooklyn

information provided by Council Member Fidler

John Malone was born on November 6, 1936 in Gravesend Brooklyn, to Mary and John Malone, Sr. He attended public schools and was captain of the baseball and football teams at Lincoln High School, where he graduated in 1953.  Because of his achievements in high school sports his name remains engraved today on a wall outside the Lincoln High School gymnasium.  Upon graduating high school, John signed a professional baseball contract with a New York Giants minor league farm team,  but subsequent football injuries precluded a career in the major leagues.

In 1958 John married Joan Pickens.  They lived in Gravesend until 1965 when they moved to Bergen Beach, Brooklyn.  They were parents to three children, John III, Richard and Deborah.  John went into the family business, “Malone and Sons Florist,” where he served as company president until his untimely death on June 24, 1991.

Although injury prohibited John from continuing in his own baseball career, his dream flourished when he created a sports program for the children of Bergen Beach and all of Brooklyn.  In 1978, he began advocating for the youth of the community. With the assistance of the elected officials, civic associations and the community, additional ball fields on parkland adjacent to McGuire Park on Bergen Avenue were constructed.  John and other community volunteers gave hundreds of volunteer hours to build the complex.  In September 1981, John founded the Bergen Beach Youth Organization  (BBYO) and became its first President and Executive Director.

Today, BBYO serves thousands of young people through baseball, softball, hockey, tennis, football, soccer and volleyball programs.  BBYO sponsors after-school and evening centers in ten local schools.  It was also through John's efforts that BBYO began serving the elderly of the community through sponsorship of local senior programs.  John later started the community's first intergenerational program in a local elementary school.  BBYO continues to run senior citizen programs throughout the district today.

John Malone was also the President and Founder of Kings Plaza baseball league, member of many affiliate organizations including Babe Ruth, PONY baseball/softball and the American Legion.  He was a community leader who always advocated for the youth, seniors and families of Bergen Beach.
Section  7 --  Avenue M – Mary Queen of Heaven Way, Borough of Brooklyn

 information provided by Council Member Fidler

On April 17, 1927, Archbishop Molloy designated Father Crawford to form Mary Queen of Heaven Parish.  With the completion of the church’s lower level, the first Mass was celebrated in the new Church on December 27, 1927.  Father Crawford's dream of an upper Church was pre-empted by the crisis of the Great Depression in 1929, but the church continued and expanded its services.  In February 1951, the Parish School opened its doors and in 1962 the Dominican Sisters of Sparkhill occupied the convent.  Father McNamara became Pastor in 1966 and was responsible for the building of the present Rectory, which was completed in 1968.  

Monsignor Burns was appointed Pastor in 1975, and with the combined support of parish volunteers and the “special green baskets,” he undertook the first renovation of the Church, creating a prayerful, peaceful house of worship.  In June of 1997, Father Kull became Pastor, and just one week after his installation, the Church was destroyed by fire, which ultimately led to its complete restoration.  Father Delaney was assigned Pastorship in June of 1999, and continued to lead the Parish until the appointment of Father Gigantiello in January of 2002.  Father Jamie, as he is so fondly known, guides the Parish through its 75th Anniversary (2002) celebrations, and in his loving and energetic way, continues the tradition of his predecessors, helping the Parish grow spiritually as well as communally.

Section  8 – Edmond J.  Safra Place, Borough of Manhattan 

information provided by Council Member Gerson

Edmond J.  Safra was born in Beirut, Lebanon, the third of the eight children of Esther and Jacob Safra.  Jacob Safra was the proprietor of Banque de Credit National, successor to the business of Safra Freres, a merchant banking business that originated about 1840 in the Ottoman Empire.

In 1948 Edmond was sent, along with an experienced banker, to Italy to consider diversification opportunities for the family.  The post war atmosphere was filled with opportunities for an energetic, entrepreneurial banker and Edmond created a precious metals trading business, the first of what was to become a long string of financial and banking successes.

In 1952 Edmond was encouraged by his father to explore opportunities in the New World.  Having visited North and South America he decided to open a business in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.  Within a few years progress was so substantial that Edmund persuaded his father to move the rest of the family to Brazil.  The Brazilian business evolved into Banco Safra, which is now Brazil's fifth largest bank.  Today, Edmond’s two younger brothers privately own it.

In 1956 Edmond opened the predecessor to Trade Development Bank in Geneva, Switzerland.  He wanted to meet the international financial and banking needs of middle eastern families which, like his own were moving from that troubled region. In 1983 Trade Development Bank was sold to the American Express Company for $550 million.

In the early 1960's Edmond decided to complete the South American European banking triangle and applied for a national banking charter in New York City.  The charter was granted and Republic National Bank of New York was opened in January, 1996.  Its initial capital, which was slightly more than $10 million, was at the time the largest initial capitalization of a new bank in the history of the United States.  The ribbon was cut by Robert Kennedy.  Edmond never forgot that Robert Kennedy helped him, and after Bobby's tragic death Edmond created The Robert F. Kennedy Chair in Latin American Studies at Harvard University.

Republic became one of America's most successful banks.  Through merchandise promotions and acquisitions, it became a leading retail bank with more than one million accounts, while simultaneously developing the world's leading gold trading business.  In 1999, Republic and its European affiliate, Safra Republic Holdings, SA, were sold to HSBC, PLC for approximately $10 billion.

Shortly before his tragic death in 1999, Mr. Safra formed the Edmund J. Safra Philanthropic Foundation, to carry forward his philanthropic mission.  His foundation, with the guidance and support of his wife, Lily, has honored his memory in many ways: by creating The Edmond J. Safra Hall at The Museum of Jewish Heritage; The Edmond J.  Safra campus of Hebrew University in Israel; The Edmond J.  Safra Fountain Court at Somerset House in London; The Edmond J.  Safra Synagogue in St.  Petersburg, Russia; and The Edmond J.  Safra Fellows in Ethics at Harvard University.

Section  9 – Rabbi Yaakov Spiegel Way, Borough of Manhattan 

information provided by Council Member Gerson

Rabbi Yaakov Yitzchak Spiegel was born in 1936, and was a decedent of the Chzeh of Lubin Reb Rob Shmelke of Nikolsburg, Ramiraz Rokeach and other large Chasidic dynasties.  Rabbi Yaakov Spiegel was known as the Roumanisher Rav, for he was the beloved and respected leader of the Roumanisher Shul on the Lower East Side of New York City.  For over 20 years, he also served as the Rav of KBW Estates during the summer.  

Rabbi Spiegel began his illustrious career as the executive vice president of the federated council of Beth Jacob Schools (Esther Schonfeld), on the Lower East Side.  Almost single handedly, he established schools for thousands of girls, putting them at the forefront of the Bais Yaakov movement.  Thanks to his involvement, tens of millions of dollars were obtained to support Torah learning, both in the United States and Israel.  At his shiva, many women related stories of how he had helped ensure that young Jewish girls would receive a Jewish education regardless of their parents’ ability to pay tuition.

Community Board No. 3 passed the motion to rename the street, stating, “Rabbi Spiegel was a long-time fixture and civic leader, who contributed must to all people of our community.”  Rabbi Spiegel was also a strong supporter of the Ludlow Block Association.

Section  10 – Stephen “Snapper” Knapp Place, Borough of Staten Island 

information provided by Council Member Lanza

Stephen Arthur “Snapper Knapp was born on Staten Island, the third child of Arthur and Mildred, Knapp, on October 25, 1945.  He and his siblings, Nancy, and Jean, grew up in Annadale on Amboy Road.  Stephen graduated from Public School 5 and was one of the original participants in the South Shore Little League.  He graduated from Tottenville High School in 1963, where he also played baseball.  After graduating from high school, Stephen learned welding at the Brooklyn Navy Yard.  He was employed there until he entered military service in the United States Army, serving in Vietnam in 1966 and 1967.  In Vietnam, he took part in helicopter maneuvers as a member of the First Infantry Division, also known as the “Big Red One.”

After returning from his military service, Stephen Knapp married Louise Ferrara on July 22, 1973.  They were parents to two children, a son Stephen Jr. and a daughter Denise.  Stephen raised his family in Great Kills on William Avenue.  While raising his family, Stephen went to school at night and earned a Bachelor’s degree form Adelphi University in New York.  He loved fishing, kept an outboard motorboat at a local marina, and spent many happy hours fishing the waters around Staten Island.  He was also an avid softball player and was a member of several teams on Staten Island.  He was a man who was devoted to is family, his native Staten Island and his country.  He was a true friend and a dedicated patriot.

Stephen “Snapper” Knapp was killed in the terrorist bombing of the World Trade Center on February 26, 1993.  His wife, two children, his father and two sisters survived him.

At the time of the attack, Stephen was Chief Maintenance Supervisor for the Port Authority at the World Trade Center.  A fountain was erected at the site in memory of the victims who died in 1993, but ultimately was destroyed by the second attack on September 11, 2001.

Section  11 – Firefighter Michael J.  Gorumba Place, Borough of Staten Island 

information provided by Council Member Lanza

Firefighter Michael J.  Gorumba was the first Staten Island Firefighter killed in the line of duty in twenty years, when he lost his life fighting a three-alarm fire on August 28, 2001.  Born in Brooklyn on May 2, 1974, Michael J.  Gorumba was an honors graduate of Resurrection Catholic Grammar School and Xavierian High School.

Before joining the Fire Department, Michael was a track worker and welder for the New York City Transit Authority, a member of the New York City Police Auxiliary Unit, and a United States Naval Reservist from 1993 until 1995.  Michael moved to Staten Island in 1998 with his wife Lori.  They had their first son, Andrew, in 1999, and their second son was born in February 2002, six months after Michael died.

Michael joined the FDNY on February 2, 2001.  His first assignment was with Ladder 46 in the Bronx, where he perfected his firefighting skills with a very active and high response unit.  Upon graduation from the Fire Academy in the summer of 2001, Michael was assigned to Engine 163 on Staten Island.  On August 26, 2001, Michael responded to an alarm call at 41 Rector Street, the scene of a raging fire at an auto body shop.  It was the last call that Michael would respond.  In the midst of the summer heat, the acrid smoke, and the intensity of the fire, Michael succumbed to an unexpected heart attack at the scene of the fire.

Firefighter Michael J.  Gorumba was only 27 years old, but he lived to be a firefighter, husband, and a wonderful father.  He lived his life doing what made him happy.  Firefighter Michael J.  Gorumba displayed a sense of courage and dignity during his lifetime and shall be remembered for his selfless acts of courage and his devotion to his family and profession.  

Staten Island Community Board No. 3 unanimously voted in favor of renaming the northwest corner of Genessee Avenue at Richmond Avenue.

Section  12 – Kevin Sheehy Way, Borough of Staten Island 

information provided by Council Member Lanza
Kevin Sheehy was born in Tompkinsville, Staten Island on October 17, 1942.  He attended local schools, St.  Clare's in Great Kills, Our Lady Help of Christians in Tottenville and Tottenville High School.  Kevin received his Bachelor of Science and his Master of Science degrees from Wagner College in 1967 and 1970, respectively.  He also earned a Master of Business Administration degree from Wagner College in 1991 and a Doctor of Science degree there in 1999.

For almost thirty years, Kevin Sheehy devoted his talents and energies to the education of young people.  As a biology teacher at Tottenville High School, he sought to instill a spirit of public and community service in his students and in other people he encountered.  In this regard, he led by example.  Among his many affiliations, he served as: President of “Friends of Snug Harbor;” President, “South Shore Junior Chamber of Commerce;” Chairman, “Thom McCann Shoes Olympic Fundraising Committee;” Advisor, “Neighborhood Youth Job Corps (parks restoration);” Founding Member, “Snug Harbor Cultural Center;” Board Member, “Greenbelt Conservancy;” Treasurer, “Sunrise Terrace Civic Association;” Board Member, “Chinatown Planning Council;” and Vice-President, “Stapleton Local Development Corporation.”

During his lifetime, Kevin Sheehy received many awards for his teaching and for the community works that he performed for dozens of organizations.  These awards included: “Excellence in Secondary Teaching – 1999” from Williams College; “Certificate of Special Congressional Recognition for Services to the Community 1997, 1998, 1999” from the United States Congress; “Certificate of Recognition, 1995 New York State Teacher of the Year Nominee” from the New York State Education Department; “Mayor's Volunteer Service Award, 1992” from Mayor David Dinkins; “Staten Island Teacher of the Year, 1994” from Phi Delta Kappa; “Reliance Award for Excellence in Education, 1993”; from Staten Island Educators; “Staten Island Continuum Teacher of the Year Award, 1993”; “Maurice Wollin Award” as Teacher of the Year 1993; “New York City Department of Parks Volunteerism Award,” 1990; “National Leadership Award, 1989” from the New York State Assembly; and, “Outstanding Teacher Award, 1980, 1984” from Parents and Teachers Association.

Kevin Sheehy died on February 14, 2001 while participating in a charity basketball game to raise money for the American Heart Association.  His wife of twenty-five years, Elaine and their son, Kevin Jr., survived him.

Section  13 – Luis M.  Beltre Place, Borough of Manhattan, 

information provided by Council Member Martinez.

Louis M. Beltre was born on April 11, 1975 in New York City to Altagracia and Manuel Beltre.  He was raised on 184th Street in Washington Heights, from where he attended John F.  Kennedy High School in The Bronx.  After high school, Louis continued his education earning a Bachelor of Arts degree from Union College and a Masters degree from Mercy College.

In his short but inspirational life, Luis served as an agent of change for young people.  He was a youth organizer at “Alianza Dominica, Inc.” where he helped young people to get off of the streets, and counseled them to use their time more productively.  Luis was also a teacher at I.S. 152 where he taught science and helped many to appreciate the value, power and importance of education.  He was also involved with the Columbia Presbyterian Rape Crisis Center where he volunteered as a case manager, offering counseling services to victims of violence.

Louis M.  Beltre, age 26, died on February 10, 2002 after a long battle with Sickle Cell Anemia.  His parents, his brother Hamid, and his sister Wendy survived him.

Section  14 – Rev.  Dr.  William  A.  Epps, Jr.  Place, Borough of Staten Island 

information provided by Council Member McMahon
The Rev. Dr. William A. Epps, Jr. was 91 when he died, after being ill for over a year.  Rev.  Epps worked with over 20 causes, civic and fraternal organizations.  He was the pastor of St.  Philip’s  Baptist Church in Port Richmond, Staten Island, and had also served as the state-assigned Protestant Chaplain at the Arthur Kill Correctional Facility for many years.

At age 9, he and his parents, the Rev. William Ashford Epps, Sr. and Hattie Pearl, along with his 6 siblings, left Columbus, Georgia for a Jersey City, New Jersey church.  A lover of learning, he would graduate from Jersey City Preparatory School with honors in Greek.  He would go on to attend the National Bible Institute in Manhattan, Bloomfield College and Seminary, and Evangel College and Seminary, where he would earn a bachelor’s degree in theology.  Later, he would earn graduate degrees in theology, and do his pastoral training at the Rikers Island jail.

In the late 1930’s, he became interested in politics.  For 12 years he barnstormed for Republicans, often with his father as his companion.  Along the way he was a draftsman, cook, elevator operator and insurance collection agent.  In 1954 he accepted the leadership of St. Philip’s Baptist Church, beginning a relationship with Staten Islanders that would only grow and flourish.  In 1992 he semi-retired from St. Philips, becoming pastor emeritus.

Section  15 – Cheryl White Place, Borough of Staten Island 

information provided by Council Member McMahon


Cheryl White Quaye, 46, a Stapleton resident and coordinator of the Fresh Air Fund, died on June 20, 1997.  Born in Waco, Texas, she moved to Inwood in 1959, and settled in Stapleton in 1978.  Ms.  Quaye coordinated the registration of Staten Island children and supervised their departures and return trips with the Fresh Air Fund.  She was a member of the Grandmothers and Friends club.

Section 16 – Caccese Way, Borough of Staten Island 

information provided by Council Member McMahon

The Caccese family has been an integral part of the Staten Island community for over 92 years.  The family’s patriarch, Phillip Caccese, migrated to Staten Island from Naples, Italy at the age of 14, in 1910.  Here he met Josephine Irrilo, also from Staten Island, and they were married in 1914.  After the marriage, the couple purchased a home on Buchanan Street in Brighton.  They were parents to seven children and numerous grandchildren.  These three generations of the Caccese family have compiled a remarkable record of public service to their community and military service to their country.

Philip Caccese supported his family by working for more that 40 years at the New York City Department of Marine and Aviation.  His first child was named Jesse.  She had 3 children who also married and had families that lived on Staten Island.  Phillip’s second child Charles served in World War II and worked for 30 years at the New York City Department of Parks.  Charles had 2 children, one of which served in the Gulf War and received the Bronze Star (Philip).  The Patriarch’s third child (also named Philip), served in the 92nd Airborne Division in World War II and worked for the New York City Department of Housing for 20 years.  The fourth child, Rose, worked for the Department of Parks for 25 years.  Christopher, their fifth child, served for 30 years with the New York City Fire Department, retiring as a Lieutenant.  The sixth child, Maryanne, married a New York City Fireman and had 2 children.  Child number seven, Richard, served in the United States Army in the Korean War and is the father of four.  Two other family members, both cousins, Joseph Caccese and Nicholas Caccese of New Brighton, Staten Island were killed in World War II and the Korean Conflict respectively.  A fourth generation of the Caccese family awaits in the wings.

Section  17 – James Russo Place, Borough of Staten Island 

information provided by Council Member McMahon

James Russo was born in Rosebank, Staten Island on September 18, 1915, to Vito and Theresa Russo.  He lived in that community all of his life.  In 1937, Mr.  Russo's father, and 46 other members of the Our Lady of Mount Carmel Society, built a shrine honoring “Our Lady of Mount Carmel.” The Shrine, called “ Our Lady of Mount Carmel Grotto,” was built on Amity Street around the corner from Mount Carmel Hall, the society's headquarters.  Vito Russo maintained the shrine on a daily basis until his death in 1955.

After his father's death in 1955, James Russo took on the responsibility for maintaining the grotto.  At least once a day he would walk from his home to inspect the structure and replace any missing stones or shells.  He felt his biggest responsibility was to preserve the shrine and the role that it played in the annual “Feast of Mount Carmel” celebrations.  This was his legacy for future generations of Staten Islanders.

James Russo served with the United States Navy during World War II and took part in the invasion of Normandy on June 6, 1944.  After the war Mr.  Russo returned to Staten Island and married Nancy Carrucci Russo.  The couple had three children, a daughter, Bernice and two sons, Vito and John.  In addition to their own family, the Russo's helped dozens of foster children, over a 40 year period, until they could be returned to their families or placed in permanent adoptive homes.  In the process, the Russo's  themselves adopted five children.  Mr.  Russo supported his family by working for 30 years as a maintenance worker at Seaview Hospital and Home, retiring in 1978.

James Russo died on January 9, 1995.  His children, four grandchildren, 3 great-grandchildren and hundreds of friends in the Staten Island community survived him.  

Section  18 – Mt.  Carmel Way, Borough of Staten Island 

information provided by Council Member McMahon

The Society of Our Lady of Mount Carmel was founded in 1903 as a self-help organization open to immigrant Italians, irrespective of their towns of origin or native regional affiliations in the old country.  It was under the tenure of the society's first president Joseph A. Palma (1903-1914) that the organization purchased land and erected a meeting hall on White Plains Avenue between St. Mary's Avenue, and Amity Street in Rosebank, Staten Island.

In 1937, Vito Russo, and 46 other members of the Society, built a shrine honoring Our Lady of Mount Carmel, on Amity Street around the corner from Mount Carmel Hall.  The serpentine grotto is built out of stone blocks, brick, and cement.  It has a central chapel housing a statue of Our Lady of Mt.  Carmel, which is flanked by two wings.  The grotto's surface is decorated with stones, shells, bicycle reflectors, marbles, and glass flowers inlaid in cement in a variety of shapes such as ovals, diamonds, crosses, and stars.  Niches and shelves hold a host of Catholic saints such as St.  Jude, St.  Anthony of Pauda, St.  Anne, St.  Lucy, and others.  Vito Russo acted as custodian to this property until his death in 1954.

In 2001, the property where the Our Lady of Mount Carmel’s Grotto and Meeting Hall stands was placed on the New York and National Registers of Historic Places.  It was listed as a “traditional cultural property,” a site associated “with cultural practices or beliefs of a living community's history, and are important in maintaining the continuing cultural identity of the community.” The year 2003 marks the Society's 100th year of service to the Rosebank Community.

Section  19 – Isaac Stern Place, Borough of Manhattan 

information provided by Council Member Moskowitz

The following biographical material was provided by “The Violin: The Multimedia Encyclopedia.”  Isaac stern was born in Kremenetz, Ukraine, on July 21, 1920.  His family traveled to the United States when he was one year old and settled in San Francisco.  His mother, a professional singer, trained him in music and at age 7 first began learning the piano, then the violin at age 9.  He later studied for 3 years with Robert Pollack and for a few months with Louis Persinger.  He also studied until age 15 with Nahum Blinder, whom he considered his only true teacher.  He was later to say : “He taught me how to learn by myself, which is the most important thing a teacher can teach you.”  

From this time on, Isaac stern became very interested in chamber music, already playing quartets and quintets with the principals of the San Francisco Orchestra.  At age 15, he performed J.  S.  Bach's Double Concerto on stage with his teacher.  The following year, in 1936, he played a Brahms concerto with the San Francisco Symphony Orchestra under Pierre Monteux, then a Tchaikovsky concerto in Los Angeles under Otto Klemperer.  On October 11, 1937, he made his New York debut at Carnegie Hall, and appeared again in February 1939.  This new public appearance was hailed by enthusiastic critics, placing him at the forefront of musicians of his generation.  During World War II, he gave many concerts for the Armed Forces.

In January 1943, Isaac Stern gave his first Carnegie Hall recital.  The following year, he appeared twice with the New York Philharmonic Orchestra conducted by Dimitri Mitropoulos.  In 1945, he made his first recordings for Columbia Records, and the following year, he was chosen by Hollywood to double the violin parts for the actor John Garfield in the movie “Humoresque.”  Thereafter, he went on to play with the greatest conductors,  Sir Thomas Beecham, Dimitri Mitropoulos, Bruno Walter, Eugene Ormandy, Leonard Bernstein and George Szell.  He played the part of Eugène Ysaÿe in the film “Tonight We Sing,” relating the life of the great impresario Sol Hurok.  In 1948, he made his European debut at the Lucerne Festival, and in 1950, he took part in the first Prades Festival, organized with Pablo Casals by Alexander Schneider to celebrate the 200th anniversary of J.  S.  Bach's death.  He again appeared with Casals during the following years in Perpignan and Prades, and a few years later at the Puerto Rico Festival.  

His meeting with the famous cellist was a determinant influence and led him to devote part of his activity to chamber music, with Eugene Istomin, Alexander Schneider, William Primrose or Paul Tortelier.  In the early 1960s, he organized a trio with Eugene Istomin and Leonard Rose, which became extremely successful and toured widely until Rose's death in 1984.  In 1956, during the cold war, he was also one of the first United States musicians to tour widely in the USSR.  On the other hand, he always refused to play in Germany, in memory of the atrocities committed under Nazi rule.  He had very strong ties with the State of Israel and collaborated assiduously with Israeli-American cultural centers and foundations, providing advice and support to young musicians in that country.  He played an important role as a pedagogue and mentor for such young Israeli virtuosi as Itzhak Perlman, Pinchas Zukerman, Myriam Fried, Sergiu Luca and Shlomo Mintz.

In addition to his activity as a violinist, Isaac Stern participated intensively in American musical life, making important contributions as music director for the National Council for the Arts.  After 1960, he was Chairman of Carnegie Hall, that prestigious concert hall which, with others, he saved from demolition.  In 1979, he made a trip to China, and the film relating this event, “From Mao to Mozart” was awarded an Oscar from the Academy of Motion Picture Arts and Sciences in 1981.  Many contemporary works were composed for Isaac Stern, including William Schuman's Concerto in 1950, Leonard Bernstein's Serenade in 1954, George Rochberg's Concerto in 1975, Penderecki's Concerto No. 1 in 1977, Dutilleux's Concerto in 1985 and Maxwell Davies’ Concerto in 1986.  

In 1987, Isaac Stern formed a new trio with Yo Yo Ma and Emanuel Ax, which performed and recorded in the company of such artists as Jaime Laredo and Cho-Liang Lin.  A symbol of American violin playing for over 50 years, he was also one of the greatest 20th century masters.  Isaac Stern died on September 22, 2001.
Section  20 – Warren L.  Samuels Way, Borough of Brooklyn

information provided by Council Member Nelson
Warren L.  Samuels was born on September 20, 1940, to Morris and Bessie Samuels, in Crown Heights, Brooklyn.  He was a product of the New York City Public School system attending Old Primary School 192, Public School 206, James Madison High School and, finally, New York University.

As a young man Warren worked with his parents in the family butcher business.  He learned first hand from his parents the value of the hard work and  the importance of being active in the community.  His affiliations were many and varied, including Brooklyn Community Board No. 15, (member, for more than 10 years), Knights of Pythias (member), Sheepshead Bay Chamber of Commerce (past president), Shorefront Volunteer Ambulance ( past president and charter member), Plumb Beach Civic Association (Treasurer), Banco Popular ( advisory board), Angels by the Sea (board member), Joint Council of the Kings County Boards of Trade, 1997 – 1984 (delegate), Mayor’s Task Force on Small Business, 1980 – 1984 (delegate), Community Education Action Coalition, Inc., 1984 (member, board of Directors), 61st Precinct Youth Council, 1984 (member, Subcommittee on Traffic Impact), Sheepshead Bay Development Task Force, 1983 – 1984 (Chairman),  Project Save, Senior Citizens Ambulette, 1982 (Founder), White House Conference on Small Business, 1980 (New York City delegate), Youth D.A.R.E.S.  (president) and Kiwanis Club of Sheepshead Bay (past president).  In addition, he was selected Lieutenant Governor of the Brooklyn Division of Kiwanis.  Mr.  Samuel also acted as a primary producer of the New York City Marathon and the Macy’s Thanksgiving Day Parade, for more than 15 years.  For several years he was a special assistant to City Council Member Samuel Horwitz and for the last 15 years of his life he served as Community Affairs Director for the New York City Department of Transportation.

Warren L.  Samuels died on September 9, 2002 at the age of 61.  His mother, Bessie, two sisters, Barbara of Florida and Renee of Brooklyn, two brothers, Burton of Sheepshead Bay and Don of Florida, a niece, Pamela and a nephew, Andrew, survived him.  At the time of his death, one admirer described Mr.  Samuels as “One of Brooklyn’s most valuable natural resources, a man who spent his life giving service to others.”

Section  21 – Marion Castellano Way, Borough of Brooklyn 

information provided by Council Member Oddo

Marion Castellano was born on September 5, 1925 in Bensonhurst, Brooklyn.  By the time she reached her eleventh birthday her father had passed away from pneumonia.  She began cleaning apartments at age eleven to help her family make ends meet and became a forewoman in a dress factory at age seventeen.  Marion learned responsibility at an early age and she became the secondary income to her mother as the middle child of three girls.  Being an adept seamstress from her years in the factory, Marion would donate clothing she made to the poorer families from her church, Our Lady of Solace.  When her parish's school was unable to afford desperately needed maintenance, Marion organized fundraisers and bake sales to assist them in reaching their goals.  During World War II, she worked making army field jackets to help in the war effort and became politically and socially aware during that turbulent time.  Marion married in 1946 and she and  her husband raised three children, living behind a candy store, which they opened on Bath Avenue in the late 1950’s.  As a small candy store owner, working seven days a week, Marion still found the time to become manager for the local little league team. 

Marion's community awareness expanded to the political arena in the 1960's when she became Captain of the 16th  Republican Assembly District of Kings County.  She was also a Kings County committeewoman and worked as a troubleshooter during elections for her district.  In 1965, being the natural organizer that she was, Marion began the Cropsey Park Concert Series, which drew thousands for free rock music events.  Speeches by Abe Stark, Louis Lefkowitz and Dizzy Gillespie, became commonplace.  To this day, these concerts are still being enjoyed each summer at the park.  In 1967, she and her husband Phil opened up Bath Music, located in Bensonhurst, which she operated until her passing.  Marion became the heart of the music scene in her community.  She would open at any hour to help a musician in need.  She tried to instill the strong ethics she had into them.  She worked through many troubled times with them, helping many to get help for their drug or alcohol addictions.  Mama and Papa, as she and her husband were commonly known, also donated instruments to local schools, churches, charitable organizations, and even to the police marching band.  Although she was kind, she was not a pushover.  Standing just 4’11”, she disarmed a 6’1” bandit who had come to rob her, by knocking the gun out of his hand and kicking him to the ground.  This was chronicled in several local papers.

Marion kept a community bulletin board in her store and would refer people in need to the proper City agency.  Children particularly moved her.  Any child in need became one of hers.  She helped to reunite a runaway, who was in a cult, with her parents.  She worked personally with mentally and emotionally challenged children from the neighborhood.  She worked to get them benefits, to have them removed from abusive households, and get them settled in community homes, or in some instances, apartments of their own.  She helped Chin and Leroy Chow for over 25 years, after their families abandoned them.  She was a lifesaver, literally.  A woman passing the store started screaming and panicking when she saw that her infant child had choked, stopped breathing, and was starting to turn blue.  Marion rushed to the carriage grabbed the baby by her feet and whacked her on the back, dislodging the blockage.  In countless cases, either running to help people in accidents on her busy avenue, assisting people fallen from epilepsy, or just coming to the aid of those who could not help themselves, Marion knew the solution to each problem was to get involved.

Marion Castellano died on March 1, 2000.  Over a thousand people attended her wake and flowers overflowed four rooms and wrapped around the foyer of the funeral parlor.  The wake had to be extended an extra day and the funeral director at Miraglia Chapels exclaimed that in his thirty years he had never seen such an overwhelming amount of respect.  She was selfless throughout her life, and never looked for acknowledgement for her countless good deeds.  She was the backbone of her community.

Section  22 – Dr.  Carlo Mannino Place, Borough of the Bronx

information provided by Council Member Provenzano


Dr. Carlo Mannino was a talented organist, composer and musician who provided the community and his church with beautiful music for many years.  He was born on Valentine’s Day in 1960 in Manhattan and moved to the Bronx at a young age, graduating from St. Theresa’s School in Pelham Bay.  He graduated from Lehman High School in 1978.  While in high school, he began playing the organ at St. Theresa’s Church, and his love for the organ and music grew immeasurably throughout his teenage years.


He received his Bachelor’s and Master’s degrees in Music from the Julliard School.  He composed, arranged and performed music for the organ, chorus and brass quartets while at Julliard.  He received his Doctor of Music Arts degree in 1986.


He served in a number of parishes throughout the Archdiocese of New York, as a musical director, organist and choirmaster.  Dr.  Mannino composed over 150 brilliant musical manuscripts and has been compared to many of the greatest composers of church music.  Dr.  Mannino passed away at the age of 33, and a scholarship was named after him at his alma mater, the Julliard School, in 1994.  

Section  23 – Throgs Neck Expressway, Borough of the Bronx

information provided by Council Member Provenzano


For over 40 years the owners of 485 and 489 Throgs Neck Expressway have believed that this was their legal address.  The street sign on the corner of their block read Throgs Neck Expressway throughout the years.  When the street sign fell, and the Department of Transportation replaced the sign, they advised the owners of these homes that the address was actually Hollywood Avenue.  Since the residents of these two homes have long used Throgs Neck Expressway as their address, they have requested the short stretch of Hollywood Avenue be renamed Throgs Neck Expressway.

Section  24 – Marge Jeffries Way, Borough of the Bronx

information provided by Council Member Provenzano


Marguerite “Marge” Jeffries was born on January 21, 1934.  Marge Jeffries was a long time community activist on in Bronx Community Board No.  10.  She served as a member of the Community Board for 13 years, being elected as the Chair of the Parks Committee and Treasurer on a number of occasions.  She was also a member of a number of different community groups and was active in a host of community projects and issues.


In addition, she served as the President of the 45th Precinct Community Council for 20 years, from 1976-1996.  In that position, she worked aggressively to bring the community and police together during some very difficult times.  Marge Jeffries passed away on January 17, 2002.  Her two sons, Bruce and Douglas, as well as 4 grandchildren survived her.

Section  25 – Charles Lee Triangle, Borough of the Bronx

information provided by Council Member Provenzano

Charles M.  Lee was born in Manhattan on April 21, 1914.  In 1929, his family moved to Pelham Parkway where he would spend the rest of his life.  After earning a Bachelor of Arts degree from the College of the City of New York, Mr. Lee pursued a legal career, obtaining his Bachelor of Laws degree from Brooklyn Law School of St.  Lawrence University.  He was admitted to the New York State Bar in 1937.

Shortly after the beginning of World War II, in March 1942, Charles Lee enlisted in the United States Army.  After his enlistment, and prior to his European tour of duty, Charles married Anita K.  Lee on August 2, 1942.  The marriage would last for 58 years until his death.  A medic in the 271st Infantry of the 69th Division of the Army, he served in England, France, Belgium and Germany.  During this tour, he fought in the Battle of the Bulge, which was the largest land battle of World War II.  Throughout the War, Mr. Lee utilized his linguistic skills in French and German by serving as an interpreter for his unit as it traveled through Europe, and also after the War, when he remained in Germany to assist with liberation efforts.  He was awarded the Bronze Star for heroic and meritorious achievement.  

After World War II,  Mr. Lee resumed his legal career as a sole general practitioner, often serving less fortunate clients as a court appointed criminal defense lawyer.  Early in his career, he served as an Assistant Attorney General of the State of New York (1956 – 1957).  He was also appointed as an Assistant United States Attorney for the Southern District of New York (1953 – 1955).  He later served as counsel to the Bronx Borough President.  During the administration of Mayor John V. Lindsay, Mr. Lee was appointed to serve as Hearing Commissioner for the New York City Department of Markets, and later as the first Director of the City’s new Firearms Control Board.

Charles Lee, described as a man who was the epitome of character, intellect, wit, generosity, loyalty, devotion and integrity, was dedicated to the Bronx Republican Party.  He was a District Leader, and carried his party’s banner as a candidate for numerous political and judicial positions.  In his later years he was valued as an elder statesman and a guiding light to his younger colleagues.  His strength of character, devotion and hard work earned him a stellar reputation and many friendships among his colleagues, and also earned him the respect and admiration of his political opponents.

Charles Lee, a man of many accomplishments, was always proud of his Bronx roots and always willing to serve his borough and the Pelham Parkway community.  He served as president of a local chapter of B’nai B’rith, helped to organize the Pelham Parkway Citizen’s Council, served as an Officer and Board Member of the Federal Bar Association, and as a Board Member of the Pelham Parkway Jewish Center.  Mr.  Lee was also a member of the Bronx County Bar Association and many volunteer and charitable organizations, including the Jewish War Veterans and the Elks.  

Charles Lee died on January 28, 2001.  A devoted family man, he was survived by his wife Anita, as well as a sister-in-law, a brother-in-law, and numerous nephews, nieces and cousins to whom his memory will continue to provide inspiration and guidance.

Section 26 – J.A.  Lobbia Bike Lane, Borough of Manhattan 

information provided by Council Member Quinn

Julie Lobbia was a remarkable advocate and journalist, who reminded her readers of the original muckrakers; humanists who sought out the truth through their writing and reporting.  J.A.  Lobbia, as she was better known, through her Village Voice column “Towers and Tenements,” tirelessly dug up information and pursued stories and leads that would show what was really going on for tenants in New York.  Lobbia’s journalism – and its incredible advocacy for the rights of tenants all over New York City – has had an immeasurable impact on our City.  It is for this lifetime of accomplishment that Manhattan Community Board No. 5 has approved naming a stretch of the bike lane on Sixth Avenue in her honor.


When J.A. Lobbia went to work, she put her heart and soul into it.  Her “Towers and Tenements” column covered the City’s affordable housing crisis, the State’s weakening of rent regulation laws, the strident efforts of the tenants’ movements, and exposed the shameful ways of certain slumlords and developers. 


A true sign that someone really cares about an issue is his or her dedication, even after the workday is done.  When J.A. Lobbia would be biking through neighborhoods, she would take notice eviction notices and stop to give advice if she could.  She even noticed an eviction notice written in Chinese, had it translated so that she could read it, wrote a response, had it translated back into Chinese, and slipped it under the door.  Also, she actively volunteered her time at the Lower East Side Tenement Museum, and as a tutor in the Immigrant Literacy Project of the Missionary Sisters of the Sacred Heart.


For her efforts and diligent dedication to journalism, Lobbia received many awards.  Among these are the 2001 Front Page Award from the Newswomen’s Club of NY, Scales of Justice Media Award from Mobilization for Youth Legal Services, Best Columnist Award from the Society of Professional Journalism, and a Golden Typewriter Award for Public Interest in Journalism.


J.A. Lobbia was not only an intelligent, capable journalist, but she was a selfless person who gave back to the society her heart and hand.  She unfortunately died from cancer in 2001 at the young age of 43.  Even throughout her illness, Lobbia continued to be out on the streets, getting stories and helping other people.


Although known and admired by most for her work on tenants rights, J.A. Lobbia was involved in other issues.  Among those were transportation and traffic, in that she was an avid cyclist.  When she was sick, she was quoted as saying that when she died, she would want to be “buried in a dress and bike shoes.”  For a person who gave so much to the tenants of New York City, there seems no better tribute than naming a bike lane in her honor.    

Section  27 – Saint Malachy’s Way, Borough of Manhattan 

information provided by Council Member Quinn

Manhattan Community Board No. 5 has approved the renaming of 49th Street between Broadway and 8th Avenue to honor St. Malachy Catholic Church’s 100 years of service to New York City.  For eighty of the 100 years, St. Malachy’s has served the interesting function of providing a spiritual home to the theatrical community, which is why it came to be known as “The Actors’ Chapel.”  St. Malachy’s was also involved in the Mayor’s Midtown Citizens Committee.  St. Malachy’s furthers its vision of service to the community with Encore Community Services, which is a program to feed and help the elderly poor, as well as provide a residence for these individuals, across the street from the Church.


October 2002 through October 2003 will be the Centennial celebration for St. Malachy’s Catholic Church.  For an institution that has given so much to the City of New York, there seems no better tribute than to name the street in its honor.

Section  28 – Angelo Del Toro Place, Borough of Manhattan 

information provided by Council Member Reed

Angelo Del Toro was born in East Harlem, on April 16, 1947, to Virginia and Dionesio Del Toro.  He attended local schools, graduating from Brooklyn Technical High School, Manhattan Community College, City College of New York (Bachelor of Arts Degree) and New York University Law School.  In 1974, at the age of twenty-seven, Angelo was elected to the New York State Assembly where he represented his East Harlem community for the next twenty years.

In his twenty years of service to his community and state Angelo Del Toro played a vital role in the advancement of the New York State Black and Puerto Rican Caucus and in the formation of the Puerto Rican Legislative Task Force, two organizations dedicated to the protection of Latino and African American rights and interests in New York State.  He also served as chairman of the Assembly's Social Service Committee, and later its Education Committee.  He was also instrumental in securing funding which led to the creation of Hostos Community College in the Bronx, the renovation of Boricua College in Manhattan and the establishment of Touro College in  East Harlem.  For his work on behalf of the Puerto Rican Youth Leadership Institute, Angelo received special recognition from ASPIRA of New York.  

Upon Angelo's death the institute was renamed the “Angelo Del Toro Puerto Rican/Hispanic Youth Leadership Institute” in his honor.  For his longtime advocacy on behalf of women's rights “Votes for Choice,” a political action organization, presented Angelo with its prestigious Gloria Steinem Award.

Angelo Del Toro's favorite constituents were the senior citizens of his community.  Each year, during his terms in office, he organized a trip to Albany for some two thousands of senior citizens from East Harlem.  This event, called “Senior Citizen Day in Albany,” enabled the seniors to meet face to face with their elected representatives, to testify before a special session of the state legislature and call attention to the needs of the elderly.  One of Angelo's most significant achievements on behalf of senior citizens was his tireless determination in coordinating the funding process for the construction of the “Virginia Del Toro House” at 128 East 112th Street in East Harlem.  This facility, which bears his mother’s name, opened in 1994 and currently houses 50 poor senior citizens who live in comfort and dignity, because of Angelo Del Toro.  Angelo Del Toro died on December 30, 1994, and was survived by his brother, William Del Toro.

Section  29 – Eric Lopez Place, Borough of Brooklyn

information provided by Council Member Reyna

Eric Lopez  was born in Manhattan on February 4, 1914 to Vito and Josephine Lopez.  He was raised in Brooklyn along with his five brothers and two sisters.  Eric's father died at the young age of thirty-six and afterward he and his brothers worked very hard in their efforts to support the family.

On October 1, 1939, Eric married Yolanda DeVito.  They raised three children, Vito, Joan and Lucille in Brooklyn, Eric working two jobs to make ends meet.  Despite his busy schedule, Eric maintained an unyielding devotion to his family, friends, religion and community.  He was especially cognizant of those members of his community who were most in need.  He had the unique ability to look upon all people with dignity and respect, without regard to race, religion, or financial circumstances.  He freely volunteered his time and talents to help the less fortunate through his church and at the local senior center.  As a skilled photographer, he shared his talent with his community and joyously volunteered his services to both the young and old.  Eric instinctively understood the importance of doing simple things like dropping in to care for elderly neighbors who were unable to care for themselves.  It was said of him that “he did ordinary things with extraordinary love.” Eric's charity and his humanity were an example to all who knew him.

Eric Lopez died on December 1, 1976.  His wife, his son, Assemblyman Vito Lopez, of Brooklyn, two daughters, and 10 grandchildren survived him.  Although he did not amass financial riches in this world, he acquired great spiritual wealth through his selfless services to others.  This is the legacy that he passed on to his children, grandchildren, friends and neighbors.

Section 30 – Reverend Dr. Nathaniel Tyler-Lloyd Place, Borough of the Bronx information provided by Council Member Seabrook
Reverend Doctor Nathaniel Tyler-Lloyd was born in New York City on June 19, 1930.  He attended local schools, graduating from Performing Arts High School in 1948 and earning a Bachelor of Arts degree in sociology from Brooklyn College in 1953.  He later received a Bachelor of Sacred Theology degree and a Master of Divinity degree from Biblical Seminary.  In 1986, Virginia Seminary awarded him with an honorary Doctorate of Divinity.

Reverend Tyler-Lloyd became a member of the Cornerstone Baptist Church in Brooklyn in 1955.  In 1960, he was called to be the pastor of Trinity Baptist Church, one of the oldest African American churches in the Williamsbridge section of northeast Bronx.  His ministry profoundly affected both the church and the community.  Under his leadership, Trinity experienced great growth, not only in the size of the congregation, but also in the church’s spiritual and social commitment.  It was under his leadership that Trinity  undertook the task of building and completing a new church and multi-purpose fellowship hall to meet its increased needs.

One of the hallmarks of Pastor Tyler-Lloyd’s ministry was his concern and commitment to missions.  This concern was evident when he was elected president of the Lott Carey Foreign Mission Convention from 1985 to 1989.  He also served as Vice President of the Baptist World Alliance and was a member of many boards and councils.  Under his pastorate, Trinity gained recognition in the city, state and national Christian community, as a church where worship was central and vital to the congregation.  Pastor Tyler-Lloyd was renowned for his liturgical skills in Christian worship.

Reverend Doctor Nathaniel Tyler-Lloyd died on May 29, 2002.  His wife of 41 years, Portia Lenora Key Tyler-Lloyd, of Mount Vernon, New York, their son, Dr. Mark David Tyler-Lloyd, and daughter, Reverend Naomi Elaine Tyler-Lloyd survived him.

Section  31 – Plaza College Way, Borough of Queens 

information provided by Council Member Sears

Founded in 1916, Plaza College first began as an independent institution based in Long Island City.  As long-range plans indicated a need for more space, the college moved to 37th Avenue in Jackson Heights in 1970.  With additional accommodations available, the College has continued to develop and build an outstanding learning environment for its students.  Academic support, counseling, and placement services reach out to each student, ensuring a successful educational experience.  The development of computer facilities, course offerings, and other enhancements to the life of the college community clearly reflects the college’s history of responding to dramatic changes in technology and the nature of business.  

From a historical perspective, notable Plaza College events include the development of its two-year programs - 1975; authorization by the Board of Regents of the State of New York to confer the degree of Associate in Occupational Studies (A.O.S.) - 1982; authorization to confer the degree of Associate in Applied Science (A.A.S.) - 1988; Middle States Candidacy – 1997.  The college was accredited by the Commission on Higher Education of the Middle States Association of Colleges and Schools on March 6, 2002.

The 1990’s continued to be a period of extensive development for the College.  With completion of Bruson Hall, the size of the College nearly doubled.  This made possible an expanded library, internet facility, Learning Resource Center, additional computer classrooms, student lounge, and special events hall.  These additions have made the learning environment at Plaza College a special place to be.  Efforts also proceeded in developing “The Computer Business Support Specialist,” a new degree program of study, designed to offer students an intense focus on computer software, hardware and network operations.

To meet the challenges and opportunities of the 21st century, the college is committed to achieving strategic planning goals and building upon its strengths through the outcomes assessment process.  The year 2003 will mark Plaza's 87th year of service to the community of Queens.

Section  32 – Khay Cochran Place, Borough of Brooklyn

information provided by Council Member Yassky

In the summer of 2000, a catastrophic gas leak caused a rowhouse at 420 State Street to explode.  This explosion claimed the lives of the two residents, Leonard and Harriet Walit, and their next-door neighbor, Leon “Khay” Cochran.  Leonard and Harriet Walit were pillars of the community.  Khay was constantly doing favors for his neighbors – as he was doing while helping the Walits find the gas leak which caused the explosion.

Leon “Khay” Cochran was born on January 6, 1926 in Missouri, and was raised by his maternal grandparents and great aunt.  He was educated in a one-room schoolhouse, which his grandfather had built.  He attended high school first, in Louisiana, then Missouri, and finished while living on his aunt’s ranch in Denver, Colorado.  He loved music and singing, and was a member of the Denver Cathedral choir.  He attended the University of Missouri for two years, until deciding to study voice in New York.  He transferred to Columbia University, where he studied for two more years, and also worked on his singing talents.  Like many young singers at the time, he acted as a “super” at the Metropolitan Opera.  It was there that he met his future partner of 53 years, Julian Jackson.

He held several jobs after college, and eventually went to work at R.W.  Pressprich & Co., as a stock and bond trader.  He was promoted to head the “cage” and then to customer service representative.  While working as a trader, he continued to pursue music.  He was given a chance to sing with the Don Cessach Choir, and he left Wall Street to follow that opportunity.  He sang with the choir for over 16 years around the globe.  When not on tour, Khay sang with a Russian operatic group on the Upper West Side.  He was immediately named lead tenor, singing in such works as “Boris Godenov” and  “Prince Igor.”

Khay was an inveterate collector, and moved to Boerum Hill in 1973 as to have more space.  After 9 years of renovations, Khay turned an empty shell with no electricity or plumbing into a beautiful rowhouse.

George Dalrowski, the great Russian baritone, referred to Khay as having “the great voice of the century.”  His voice was known all over Europe, and was often invited to sing with prominent European opera companies, offers he never took advantage of.  Even more distinguished than his voice was Khay’s devotion to helping others.  It was this devotion that lead to his untimely death.

Section  33 – Leonard and Harriet Walit Way, Borough of Brooklyn

information provided by Council Member Yassky


In the summer of 2000, a catastrophic gas leak caused a rowhouse at 420 State Street to explode.  This explosion claimed the lives of the two residents, Leonard and Harriet Walit, and their next-door neighbor, Leon “Khay” Cochran.  Leonard and Harriet Walit were pillars of the community.  Khay was constantly doing favors for his neighbors – as he was doing while helping the Walits find the gas leak which caused the explosion.


In 1970, Leonard and Harriet Walit moved into a house in a dilapidated neighborhood known as Boerum Hill.  People moving into the once-gorgeous rowhouses had to be willing to live on a treeless street, inhabit shells of buildings, and work tirelessly to renovate, repair, and rebuild to have livable homes.  The Walits, undaunted, jumped right in.  Even as the neighborhood changed, they would be major figures in their little area, serving to cement ties holding people together, until their tragic deaths.


Leonard Walit, 72, was an accountant, an avid reader, a fan of history and a loving husband.  He attended Lincoln High School, then Brooklyn College, followed by graduate courses at NYU.  Together with his wife, Harriet, they served as the center of their neighborhood, transforming it into a pleasant oasis in an otherwise gritty part of Brooklyn.  Although they had no children, they were often considered to be the “mom and pop” of the neighborhood by others, due to their incredibly open hearts, an unending desire to serve the common good and their warm and loving personalities.


Harriet Walit, 66, was born and raised in Hazelton, Pennsylvania.  After High School, Harriet attended Misericordia and Penn State Colleges, graduating with a Masters of Social Work degree.  After marrying Leonard and moving to Boerum Hill, Mrs. Walit served on the board of Stepping Stone, a neighborhood halfway house, and volunteered with the Salvation Army.  

Section  34 – PFC Dan Bullock Way, Borough of Brooklyn

information provided by Council Member Yassky

Dan Bullock was born on December 21, 1953 in Goldsboro, North Carolina.  He enlisted in the United States Marine Corps on September 18, 1968 in Brooklyn, after altering his birth certificate to indicate he was 18.  PFC Bullock was eager to join the USMC, in order to make a mark and life and gain an education.  As a member of Platoon 3039 in Parris Island, he graduated from boot camp on December 10, 1968 at the age of 14.  His tour of duty in Vietnam began May 18, 1969, and was killed in action on June 7, 1969 in An Hoa, Quang Nam Province, South Vietnam.  At the time of his death he was 15 years old, and a member of Fox Company, 2nd Bn, 5th Mar, 1st Marine Division.  

At boot camp during the last year of his short life, this young man, who was raised in Williamsburg, Brooklyn, befriended a fellow Brooklynite, Franklin McArthur.  After Private First Class Bullock’s untimely death, McArthur contacted Pentagon officials to claim that PFC Dan Bullock was the youngest serviceman killed in action since the First World War.  In memory and tribute to this fallen Marine, McArthur established the PFC Dan Bullock Foundation and has devoted the last forty years to ensuring that his friend’s memory is honored.  Brooklyn Community Board No. 1 unanimously supported the street name change in honor of PFC Dan Bullock, USMC.

Section  35 – Paul Ramos Way, Borough of Manhattan

information provided by Council Member Gerson


Paul Ramos was born in Harlem on April 26, 1941.  After the tragic death of his father, Paul lived with his grandmother in East Harlem.  Paul received his education in a Catholic elementary school and public high school.  At the age of 17, Paul’s grandmother passed away, leaving him to arrange sleeping in relatives and friends homes.  At one point, Paul stayed with Langston Hughes, where Paul Ramos learned about music and refined his taste in jazz and poetry.


From 1960-1963, Paul worked at the Veterans Administration Hospital as an Operating Room Technician.  In 1964 he began work as a trainer at a management-engineering firm.  Because of his background in hospital work, he was assigned to monitor proprietary health institutions and related agencies that included nursing homes, private clinics and group practices.  In 1965 he began working for several Lower East Side community organizations, where he counseled “problem children” and obtained private funds for reading and tutoring programs.  He educated parents in health care delivery and how to avail themselves of the resources in the community.


In 1966 he accepted a position in the Community Development and Education Department of the Gouverneur Health Services Program.  In this capacity, he monitored the delivery of health care to patients and organized a crisis intervention unit, focused on welfare, housing and relocation of families.  Paul devoted the rest of his life to the nurturing and growth of what is today the Betances Health Center, located at 80 Henry Street.  Paul Ramos worked tirelessly for over 30 years to promote health equity and to expand the quality of affordable health care for all in one of New York’s most diverse and underserved neighborhoods, the Lower East Side.

As an early and active supporter of patient advocacy, he initiated local changes, which improved health care for the disadvantaged.  He developed the Betances Health Unit, a grassroots mobile health unit, into the state of the art community health care center.  This center has emerged through his vision into a proto-type for community health, one that continues its commitment to culturally respectful, compassionate care.

In the early 1980’s, when HIV emerged, Paul’s infinite wisdom and compassion led Betances to the forefront as one of the first community health centers to begin to provide ongoing counseling, treatment and primary care to those living with HIV and AIDS.  For years, Paul was associated himself with the Lower East Side Task Force on AIDS, the Latino Commission on AIDS and the AIDS Service Center, of which he was the board chair until his untimely passing in May 2000.  His wife, four daughters and eleven grandchildren survived him.

Section  36 – Joey Ramone Place, Borough of Manhattan

information provided by Council Members Gerson  and Lopez
Legendary punk rocker Joey Ramone, the front man for America's premier punk band, the Ramones, died at the age of 49.  Born Jeffrey Hyman on May 19, 1951 in Forest Hills, Queens, the gawky geek decked out in sunglasses and black leather would found the Ramones in 1974, with friends Johnny, Dee Dee and Tommy.  Each adopted the surname Ramone, after a stage name (Ramon) used by Paul McCartney during the earliest Beatles days.

Best known for such two-minute anthems as “I Wanna Be Sedated,” “Blitzkrieg Bop” “Rockaway Beach” and “Teenage Lobotomy,” the Ramones are credited with founding what would later be dubbed “punk rock.”  According to legend, it was all an accident.  Novices on their instruments, the quartet knew four chords and played them at breakneck speed to prevent listeners from discerning the mistakes.  An average concert consisted of about three dozen songs in about 90 minutes.  

Punk caught on and found a home at the downtown Manhattan club CBGBs, where the Ramones performed with like-minded souls Richard Hell, Patti Smith and Television.  After a Ramones tour in 1976, the genre spread to England, where the Sex Pistols and Damned copied what they saw but added a more rebellious edge.

In 1979, the Ramones appeared in the Roger Corman movie Rock 'n' Roll High School, recording the title song for the soundtrack.  Ten years later they contributed the title track to Pet Cemetery, based on the book by Stephen King.  But mainstream crossover success consistently eluded them.  Although their fiercely delivered, wincingly inane pop songs about social misfits were hailed as rock classics, none ever cracked the Top 40.  The Ramones commercial profile consistently paled in comparison to each new generation of groups they inspired--from the Clash and Blondie, through the Offspring and Green Day (two of whose members named children after the Ramones) and now Blink-182 and Fenix TX.

Over 22 years and several lineup changes the Ramones recorded 13 albums.  They released their last, “Adios Amigos,” and broke up in 1996, after performing a farewell show – their 2,263rd – with guests including Pearl Jam's Eddie Vedder and Soundgarden's Chris Cornell.

Joey Ramone died of lymphatic cancer on April 15, 2001, which he had been battling for about seven years.  He died in his hospital bed, and is said to have passed when U2’s “A Little While” concluded.  Not only was he the front man for his band, he was the front man of a generation of punk rockers.  More than any of his contemporaries, Joey Ramone was the figurehead for the New York punk scene that spawned many favorite bands.
Section  37 – El Regreso Way, Borough of Brooklyn

information provided by Council Member Reyna
Carlos Pagan founded El Regreso, a bilingual, bicultural treatment program, licensed and funded by the New York State Office of Alcoholism and Substance Abuse Services and the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development, in 1985.  El Regreso provides residential and ambulatory drug-free treatment services, primarily to Latinos and African-Americans in the Williamsburg, Bushwick and Greenpoint communities of Brooklyn.

El Regreso’s stated mission and purpose is to serve a community that has suffered from years of devastation, due to alcohol, drugs and the spread of HIV/AIDS.  The organization addresses the needs of chronic, hardcore drug users whose care is costly to society.  El Regreso also provides diversified services to include populations that require less intensive models such as ambulatory and outpatient services.  Program participants are given the opportunity and some of the means to learn to live without drugs and/or alcohol.

The year 2003 marks the 18th year that El Regreso has provided in-house drug rehabilitation to the Brooklyn community.  This bill co-names South 3rd Street, between Driggs and Bedford Avenues, the street that fronts El Regreso’s facility, in the organization’s honor.

Section  38 – Michelle Middleton-Bond Square, Borough of Queens

information provided by Council Member Sanders

Michelle Middleton-Bond was born in Brooklyn, the second daughter of James and Alice “Virgie” Middleton.  Michelle, who held three college degrees, commenced her educational career in the public and private schools of Brooklyn.  At an early age, Michelle and her family moved to Queens, where she immediately enrolled in the Queens County public school system.

A lover of learning and an avid pursuer of academic excellence, Michelle graduated from Springfield Gardens high school a year ahead of her scheduled class.  Thereafter, Michelle went on to St. John’s University where she pursued a Bachelor degree in Journalism.  In addition to being an honor student, Michelle enjoyed a host of extracurricular activities.  Michelle was a founding member of the Saint John’s University chapter of Delta Sigma Theta sorority, and started an internship for print journalism students at the New York Voice Newspaper.  Michelle also worked as an intern for NBC and CBS News. Upon graduating Cum Laude from St. John’s University, Michelle took a position as a staff producer for Fox 5 News, under television personality Bill McCreary.

Michelle’s unending thirst for knowledge soon led her back to St. John’s, where she earned a Masters Degree in Early Childhood Education.  While studying for her degree, Michelle was appointed Educational Director of Middleton’s Day Care center.  There she was able to instill her love of learning into the hearts and souls of many young children.  Her legal career began when she was awarded a scholarship to the prestigious Howard University School of Law.  In the summer of her second year in law school, Michelle accepted a position as a criminal law intern with the United States Attorney’s Office, under former United States Attorney Rudolph Guiliani.

After graduating from Howard and passing the Bar examinations of four states, Manhattan District Attorney Robert Morganthau appointed Michelle to the position of Assistant District Attorney for New York County.  While working in the D.A.’s office, Michelle met and married her friend and husband Lonnie H. Bond.  In 1993 Michelle left the District Attorney’s office to launch her own law firm along with her sister Cathy.  Through her diligence, creativity and unyielding tenacity, the office was transformed from a tiny storefront to a major firm serving the Southeast Queens community.  While there, Michelle opened the doors to her law firm and started an internship program for young high school students who had an interest in pursuing a career in law.  Michelle occasionally left the confines of her office to speak with young people at high schools in the metropolitan area. She spoke about the importance of staying in school, and how they too could have a career in law if they were willing to study hard.  Michelle served for many years on the board of United Children Appeal, a non-profit organization helping inner city children with remedial math and reading.

Michelle taught a class two nights a week at York College in legal writing.  In addition, she served as an arbitrator in Queens County Civil Court until her health prevented her from doing so.  A politically enlightened young woman, Michelle served on the committee to elect David Dinkins and also wrote several educational books for young children, which are waiting to be published.  A strong believer in education, Michelle did much volunteer work for the United Negro College fund.

In 1993, Michelle was diagnosed with cancer.  Despite painful surgeries, grueling treatments and frequent hospitalizations, she continued to build the law firm and be involved with the community.  Michelle also turned her attention to fighting breast cancer.  She was a dedicated member of the National Breast Cancer Coalition and lobbied on Capital Hill for increased government funding for cancer research.

On July 10 1997, Michelle’s fearless, bold and intrepid battle with cancer came to an end.  Her parents, her husband, and three sisters, Dietra Middleton, Elissa Middleton Thompson and Cathy Middleton Lewis, Esq, survived her.

Section  39 – Place de Cartier, Borough of Manhattan

information provided by Council Member Moskowitz
The following information is from the McClung Museum exhibition “Cartier: The Jewler’s Art” at the University of Tennessee, Knoxville.

Founded in 1847 in Paris by Louis-François Cartier, the firm became one of the world's greatest designers and manufacturers of jewelry and objets d'art, and a supplier to royalty, nobility, and millionaires.

Until the end of the 19th century, Cartier was primarily a retailer of jewelry and objects produced by outside manufacturers. When Cartier's son Alfred took over in 1874, the firm gradually began repairing and improving jewelry, and then designing and manufacturing their own original pieces in the late 1800’s. In 1899, the move to 13 Rue de la Paix situated the business in the heart of the important jewelry and couturier quarter of Paris.

Encouraged by King Edward VII, Cartier opened a branch in London in 1902 managed by Alfred's son Jacques. A royal commission was granted in 1904, followed quickly by commissions from Spain, Portugal, Russia, Siam, and Greece. These royal commissions helped to solidify Cartier's reputation among the wealthy and famous the world over.

To better deal with American millionaires, who from the beginning formed a large part of Cartier's clientele, a New York branch was opened in 1909 by Alfred's other son, Pierre. Until World War I, Cartier maintained close relations with clients in Russia, and the princes and maharajas of India sought Cartier to design and mount their jewels. Jewelry and accessories were also made as stock items for the stores or were commissioned by individuals.

Until the 1960’s, the Paris, London, and New York branches were part of a single firm but operated independently, collaborating whenever necessary. In 1962, the New York branch was sold, followed by the Paris branch in 1965, thus ending the unity. The firm was reunited and reorganized in 1979 as Cartier Monde, and today shops and boutiques can be found in cities around the world.

With each of the branches headed by a Cartier brother, the first four decades of the 20th century were a time of originality in design and technique in which a distinctive Cartier aesthetic emerged.  The name change is in recognition of the historic business relationship between the City of New York and Cartier Jewelers.  Pierre Cartier, the founder of the New York company for the Cartier family, lived on 52nd Street in the house where the business is now located.  The home was originally purchased with a Cartier necklace. 
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In relation to naming twenty-four thoroughfares and public places, 

Clyde Frazier, Jr. Boulevard, Borough of Manhattan, Keith Glascoe Street, Borough of Manhattan, Firefighter Michael Carlo Avenue, Borough of Queens, John Connelly Way, Borough of Staten Island, Battalion Chief Joseph Grzelak Way, Borough of Staten Island, Firefighter Steven J. Olsen Street, Borough of Staten Island, Vincent M. Litto Place, Borough of Staten Island, Firefighter James Giberson Street, Borough of Staten Island, Walter A. Matuza Place, Borough of Staten Island, Boulevard of Heroes, Borough of Staten Island, James Raymond Coyle Way, Borough of Brooklyn, Lt. Thomas O’Hagan Way, Borough of the Bronx, Victor Wald Way, Borough of Manhattan, Firefighter Eddy Day Way, Borough of Staten Island, Firefighter Mark Whitford Place, Borough of Staten Island, Scott Charles Timmes Street, Borough of Queens, Patricia “Trish” Cimaroli – Massari Street, Borough of Queens, Paul Salvio – Giallombardo Street, Borough of Brooklyn, Josh Rosenthal Way, Borough of Manhattan,  Firefighter Lou Arena Drive, Borough of Staten Island, William Valcarcel Place, Borough of the Bronx, James Patrick Ladley Way, Borough of Staten Island, Damian Meehan Way, Borough of Manhattan, Richard Allen Pearlman Lane, Borough of Queens, the amendment of Section 53 of Local Law 28 of 2002, the amendment of Section 28 of Local Law 6 of 2003, the amendment of Section 49 of Local Law 6 of 2003, the amendment of Section 83 of Local Law 6 of 2003, the amendment of Section 86 of Local Law 6 of 2003, and the amendment of Section 95 of Local Law 6 of 2003.
Comment:
On September 11, 2001 at 8:45 A.M.  American Airlines Flight 11, a jet carrying 92 passengers that was hijacked on a flight from Boston, Massachusetts, crashed into the north tower of the World Trade Center.  The impact of the jet tore a huge hole in the building and set it afire, trapping hundreds of people on the upper floors.  At 9:03 A.M.  a second hijacked jet airliner, United Airlines Flight 175, with 65 passengers also out of Boston, crashed into the south tower of the World Trade Center.  The plane exploded causing a fire that trapped everyone in the building who was above the point of impact.  Within the next ninety minutes both towers collapsed.

Despite the heroic efforts of New York City’s Fire Department, Police Department, Emergency Services Unit, and hundreds of civilians, more than 2,800 people were killed when the World Trade Center came down.  Included among the casualties were firefighters, police officers, emergency medical technicians, airline passengers and crewmembers, those who worked or had business in the World Trade Center, and civilians on the ground.  It is the view of the New York City Council, and millions of Americans, that all of the people who lost their lives in this terrorist attack are heroes as well as victims.  Today we celebrate their lives and mourn their passing by naming the following streets in honor of those heroes.  

While honoring them, we also acknowledge that it is but a modest gesture when compared to their great and ultimate sacrifice.  This is the fourth separate bill the Council has considered to rename streets and other public places in their honor.

1.
Clyde Frazier, Jr.  Boulevard

Clyde Frazier, Jr.

(February 9, 1960 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Manhattan

2.
Keith Glascoe Street

Keith Glascoe

(December 9, 1962 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Manhattan

3.
Firefighter Michael Carlo Avenue

Michael Carlo

(May 20, 1967 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Queens

4.
John Connelly Way

John Connelly

(December 24, 1954 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Staten Island

5.
Battalion Chief Joseph Grzelak Way

Joseph Grzelak

(March 22, 1949 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Staten Island

6.
Firefighter Steven J.  Olsen Street

Steven J.  Olsen

(August 19, 1963 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Staten Island

7.
Vincent M.  Litto Place

Vincent M.  Litto

(March 13, 1949 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Staten Island

8.
Firefighter James Giberson Street

James Giberson

(October 10, 1957 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Staten Island

9.
Walter A.  Matuza Place

Walter A.  Matuza

(August 4, 1962 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Staten Island

10.
Boulevard of Heroes

Borough of Staten Island

11.
James Raymond Coyle Way

James Raymond Coyle

(May 5, 1975 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Brooklyn

12.
Lt.  Thomas O’Hagan Way
Thomas O’Hagan

(May 28, 1958 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of the Bronx

13.
Victor Wald Way
Victor Wald

(November 23, 1951– September 11, 2001)

Borough of Manhattan

14.
Firefighter Eddy Day Way
Edward Day

(October 31, 1955 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Staten Island

15.
Firefighter Mark Whitford
Mark Whitford

(April 5, 1970 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Staten Island

16.
Scott Charles Timmes Street
Scott Charles Timmes

(June 26, 1973 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Queens

17.
Patricia “Trish” Cimaroli-Massari Street
Patricia Cimaroli-Massari

(August 20, 1976 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Queens

18.
Paul Salvio-Giallombardo Street
Paul Salvio-Gilallombardo

(February 1, 1974  – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Brooklyn

19.
Josh Rosenthal Way
Josh Rosenthal

(June 4, 1957  – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Manhattan

20.
Firefighter Lou Arena Drive
Louis Arena

(July 18, 1969 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Staten Island

21.
William Valcarcel Place
William Valcarcel

(November 14, 1946 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of the Bronx
22.
James Patrick Ladley Way
James Patrick Ladley

(September 24, 1959 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Staten Island

23.
Damian Meehan Way
Damian Meehan

(May 29, 1969 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Manhattan

24.
Richard Allen Pearlman Lane
Richard Pearlman

(March 7, 1983 – September 11, 2001)

Borough of Queens

THC     –      H:/streets/jan 22 briefing paper.doc –  1/22/2003 11:09 AM
342-A LS # 259, 539, 540, 541, 586, 671, 716, 774, 790,  816, 829, 835, 836, 916, 932, 938, 939, 996, 1059, 1181, 1229, 1242, 1286, 1296, 1416, 1430, 1510, 1527, 1598, 1630, 1645, 1654, 1655, 1672, 1673, 1709, 1713, 1716

343-A LS#  1420, 1643, 1647, 1649, 1653, 1656, 1657, 1658, 1659, 1674, 1675, 1676, 1693, 1706, 1707, 1718, 1723, 1724, 1731, 1732, 1733, 1734, 1735, 1739, 1745, 1746, 1747, 1756 
